IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

CASE NO. 70,937

HENRY PERRY SIRECI,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

FILED

SUPREME COURT

FEB 2 2008 ✓

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By *ac*

Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING POST-CONVICTION RELIEF
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
125 N. Ridgewood Avenue
Fourth Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32014
(904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT/
CROSS-APPELLEE

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Henry Perry Sireci went to a used car lot, entered the office, and discussed buying a car with the victim Poteet, the owner of the car lot. He went there for the purpose of robbing the owner and was armed with a wrench and a knife. A struggle ensued. The victim suffered multiple stab wounds, lacerations, and abrasions. An external examination of the body revealed a total of fifty-five stab and incisive wounds, all located on the chest, back, head and extremities. Although Sireci told someone that he had killed the victim with a five or six inch knife, the wounds varied in penetration depth (SR 138), and it is possible that the wounds could have been caused by more than one instrument (SR 139). There were incisive-type wounds on the hands, sometimes caused by grasping a knife (SR 134-135). Shortly after the murder, Sireci threw his small pocketknife into a toilet when the police came into the place where he was playing pool and drinking (SR 164-165). He also owned a hunting knife about nine inches long (SR 172). The stab wounds evoked massive external and internal hemorrhages which were the cause of death. The knife never touched the heart (SR 135). The neck was slit.

Sireci told his girlfriend, Barbara Perkins, that he was talking to the victim about a car, then he hit the victim in the head with a wrench. When the man turned around, Sireci asked where the money was, but the man wouldn't tell him, so he stabbed the man. He told Perkins that he killed Poteet. He also admitted taking the wallet from the victim.

Harvey Woodall, Sireci's cellmate when he was arrested in Illinois, testified that Sireci had described the manner in which he killed the victim. According to Woodall's testimony, Sireci hit the victim with a wrench, then a fight ensued in which windows were broken, and Sireci stabbed the man over sixty times. Sireci stated that he wasn't going to leave any

witnesses to testify against him and that he knew the man was dead when he left. He told Woodall he got around one hundred and fifty dollars plus credit cards.

Sireci also described the crime to Bonnie Arnold. According to Arnold, Sireci stated that the car lot owner and he were talking about selling him a car when Sireci hit the victim with a tire tool. A fight began and Sireci stabbed the victim. Sireci told Arnold that he was going in to steal some car keys and come back later to steal a car.

Sireci told David Wilson, his brother-in-law that he killed the victim with a five or six inch knife and took credit cards from the victim. Sireci was convicted of murder and sentenced to death for the killing of Howard Poteet.

On direct appeal, this court affirmed both the conviction and sentence. The facts as recited above are as set out in the opinion of this court. Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981). The United States Supreme Court subsequently denied certiorari. Sireci v. State, 456 U.S. 984, 102 S.Ct. 2257, 72 L.Ed.2d 862 (1982). Sireci subsequently sought post-conviction relief, the denial of which was affirmed, as well, by this court. Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985).

On September 19, 1986, the governor signed a death warrant for Sireci. Sireci subsequently filed a successive Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion in the circuit court. The circuit court entered an order granting Sireci's request for an evidentiary hearing and application for stay of execution. The state appealed from the circuit court's order and this court subsequently determined that Sireci's claim that he was deprived of his rights to due process and equal protection by the failure of court-appointed psychiatrists to conduct competent and appropriate evaluations, as to the

penalty phase only, was cognizable under a second motion as Sireci did not discover the possibility that the court-appointed psychiatrists may have been incompetent until he was examined by a third psychiatrist during the pendency of appeal from the denial of his first motion. This court cautioned that the subsequent finding of organic brain damage by a third psychiatrist would not necessarily warrant a new sentencing hearing, however, **a new sentencing hearing would be mandated if the psychiatric examinations by the two court-appointed psychiatrists were so grossly insufficient that they ignored clear indications of either mental retardation or organic brain damage.** State v. Sireci, 502 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 1987).

In his second Rule 3.850 motion Sireci specifically alleged that the two psychiatrists appointed to examine him prior to trial diagnosed him as suffering from personality disorders which provided no support for a diminished responsibility penalty-phase defense. He alleged that the court-appointed psychiatrists' evaluations were based solely upon very brief interviews with Sireci and they failed to learn about and review his relevant medical history and did not know that he had previously suffered a severe head injury in an automobile accident when he was sixteen years old, which supposedly resulted in significant changes in his personality and, further, did not conduct diagnostic examinations. It was averred that during the pendency of the appeal from the first Rule 3.850 proceeding Sireci was evaluated by Dr. Dorothy Otnow Lewis, a professor of psychiatry at New York University, who concluded that at the time of the homicide he suffered from severe organic impairment secondary to brain injury, as a result of the auto accident, as evidenced by a right-sided weakness of the face and from psychosis, which may also have been secondary to brain injury or which may have developed independent of that injury, which contributed substantially to

his behavior at the time of the homicide by severely impairing his ability to inhibit and control his violent behaviors. Sireci is also blind in his right eye, which has a cataract in it, and is smaller than the left. This injury was alleged to have been caused by a forceps delivery which could have caused brain damage as well. Neurological evaluation of Sireci was performed by Dr. Jonathan H. Pincus, a professor of neurology at Yale University, who found evidence of central nervous system damage. Dr. James Vallely, a neuropsychologist, found damage primarily to the left side in the temporal and frontal regions of Sireci's brain, which deficits lead to impulsive, poorly developed decisions and a reduced ability to cope with crisis, stress, or highly emotional situations which could cause Sireci to be overwhelmed by strong impulses and could have existed during the stress of the robberies, which induced compromise of judgment and impulse control. The substantial difference in opinion between Dr. Lewis and the court-appointed psychiatrists was alleged to be due to the below-standard evaluations of Sireci by Drs. Kirkland and Herrera.

A post-conviction evidentiary hearing was begun on May 28, 1987 and concluded on July 9, 1987, in the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, in and for Orange County Florida before the Honorable Gary L. Formet, Sr.

The medical records from St. Joseph Hospital in Belvidere, Illinois, reflect that Sireci was involved in an automobile accident when he was sixteen years old, and admitted as a patient on January 15, 1965 at 7:30 a.m. The summary sheet reflects a fractured mandible or jaw, possible dislocation of the lens of the right eye and "possible" skull fracture. While the history and physical examination reflects that he was semi-comatose upon admission, the nurse's notes indicate that he was able to talk, stating that he "feels

okay" only an hour and a half later, and continued to respond thereafter but was moaning from pain, for which he was given demerol, and generally slept. He was discharged on January 17, 1965, and admitted to the Swedish American Hospital in Rockford, Illinois, the same day. A physical examination revealed multiple contusions of the scalp, lacerations of the face, deformity of the jaw due to fractures, and congenital cataract of the right eye from birth. Although the operative record of January 17, 1965 shows a "possible" basilar skull fracture and the report of Dr. Halvorson of January 17, 1965, recommends addition X-rays because of a radiolucent line across the temporal area, the later report of Dr. Halvorson and Pap of January 21, 1965 shows that films of the skull **"show no evidence of cranial or intracranial injury or evidence of cranial or intracranial pathology and that the bones of the cranial vault appear to be intact."** Notes also indicate that the right seventh nerve palsy improved and there was some right face motion (Defense Composite Exhibit 3).

Sireci testified as to his facial weakness, stating that it began in the hospital after his car accident in February of 1965 (R 188), has been like that ever since, and has stayed the same (R 189). He does not remember the substance of any conversations with the court-appointed psychiatrists in regard to his head injury (R 190-191). He further testified that **he was unable, himself, to notice any difference in his behavior after the accident** (R 192-193). During the penalty phase in 1976, he testified that he did not knowingly and consciously inflict the wounds on the victim and was not aware of what he was doing (SRAS 54; 57).

Dr. Seymour Halleck, a psychiatrist, testified as an expert on behalf of Sireci, over the objection of the state, as to the "national" standard of psychiatric health care, even though such standards are not specifically promulgated or written and the American Board of Psychiatry does not recognize

any single book on the topic as authoritative (R 323; 237; 254; 559).

According to Dr. Halleck, the elements of the standard of care for a psychiatric evaluation would consist of taking a thorough history, including a history of the present illness, family history and a history of the individual's past life, including development, education, occupation and marriage with some assessment of personality styles. The traditional mental status examination involves testing the way the individual is functioning at the moment in terms of perception, orientation, thought, feelings and behavior (R 263). If there is a history of previous illness it should be checked out to see what extent it is currently influencing the individual. Certain behaviors during the mental status examination suggest the need for further tests in order to differentiate between organic illness, which has a medical or neurological basis, and functional illness which has a psycho-social or unknown cause (R 257; 265). Such behaviors include difficulty in keeping track of conversation, disorientation, hallucinations, trouble switching from one idea to the next, never reaching the point in conversations and going from one subject to the other, forgetting the topics, being easily distracted, inappropriate emotional response, such as talking about things that are quite terrible and smiling, and confabulation or covering up a deficiency (R 264-265). A history of head injury also generally suggests brain damage and calls for further testing (R 265-266). Such further diagnostic steps would include a complete blood test, urinalysis work-up and, if a neurological disorder is suspected, a CAT Scan, electroencephalogram, neurological and neuropsychological evaluation (R 267).

There are a variety of questions designed to test mental functions. For testing abstraction, the individual may be asked the manner in which certain things are similar or different and may be asked, as well, to interpret

proverbs. Concentration and memory may be tested by asking the individual to subtract certain numbers or to repeat certain numbers, first forward and then backwards.

Dr. Halleck agreed that it would be an extremely difficult task to determine what Sireci was like some twelve years ago, although a psychiatrist is capable of making some **speculations** as to what he may have been like (R 241).

The defense called as witnesses the two doctors who conducted the pretrial evaluations of Sireci. Without objection from the state the court granted defense counsel the right to examine the doctors as if on cross-examination, either as adverse witnesses or as court called witnesses (R 4).

Dr. Edward A. Herrera became board certified in psychiatry in 1975 and in forensic psychiatry in 1981. He has been a full-time forensic psychiatrist since 1981, and has evaluated at least two thousand criminal cases in his career. At the time of Sireci's evaluation in 1976 he had evaluated one or two hundred cases and was qualified as an expert in psychiatry (R 109).

Dr. Herrera testified in the penalty phase for the state at Sireci's trial in 1976 and indicated, in contrast to Dr. Kirkland, that based on his examination, he could not conclude that at the time of the murder Sireci was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (SRAS 94). It was brought out that the purpose of Dr. Herrera's examination was to determine whether Sireci was able to distinguish between right and wrong, although he would have looked into the presence of mental illness in determining that (SRAS 95-97). On cross-examination, Dr. Herrera testified that, although it was not the specific purpose of his examination, if he had to, he would classify Sireci as a sociopath (SRAS 98).

Dr. Herrera first saw Sireci on July 13, 1976 (R 8), and saw him a second

time during the course of trial, although he does not recall the purpose of the second visit (R 15). The purpose of his evaluation was only to determine sanity at the time of the offense and competency to stand trial, not to evaluate factors in mitigation for the penalty phase. Altogether, he saw him for an hour and a half (R 9). He took a psychiatric history, which included questions about his physical health (R 10-11). In the first interview Sireci denied that he had any problems, but during the second interview Dr. Herrera learned that Sireci sustained a head injury in an automobile accident when he was sixteen years old (R 11). Dr. Herrera did not secure the medical records of such injury or speak to the attending physicians, conduct a physical or neurological examination, do psychological testing or order an electroencephalogram, CAT Scan or diagnostic studies as Sireci did not report suffering any consequences from the injury either physically, mentally or emotionally, told Dr. Herrera that he had no seizures afterwards, and reported no violent behavior. He never hurt his son and only slapped his wife once in the face after she had slapped him. No relatives contacted Dr. Herrera to report any personality changes in Sireci after the accident, nor did Sireci's attorney report such changes, although a traumatic and marked personality change would be a red flag (R 67). Usually either the attorney or relatives point this out to the psychiatrist (R 12-14).

Dr. Herrera, as part of his interview, would initiate a conversation with the individual and the focus of inquiry would be the circumstances surrounding the offense. Inquiry would also be made as to past physical and psychiatric history, including head injury, seizures, drug and alcohol abuse and family history (R 19). His notes in regard to Sireci indicate there was no problem in terms of memory and reality and that he understood the proceedings against him (R 20). Sireci seemed to have a good idea of the sequence of the things

he had done, had recall as to the car accident and knew exactly when it happened. He was able to relate his prior record and employment history and a number of other things that one would not expect in a person who is brain damaged or, at least, brain damaged to the degree that it would be apparent in a regular examination (R 21).

In Dr. Herrera's opinion brain damage does not necessarily have to be severe to show up in an interview and in this particular case he stated "there are a number of things that just don't jibe." (R 22) Although frontal lobe damage may be difficult to detect on a standard mental status exam (R 23), demonstration of cognitive impairment by neuropsychological testing in Dr. Herrera's opinion, is no more certain evidence of organic brain disease but may simply reveal subtle losses that **point** toward organic dysfunction (R 26). Dr. Herrera did not see Sireci as a **treating** physician but to determine whether he was **sane** at the time of the murder and **competent** to stand trial and was satisfied that such determination could be made by means of his examination, without the need for neuropsychological testing (R 28).

It was Dr. Herrera's further opinion that Sireci does not fit the description of one suffering from organic personality syndrome. Prior to 1980 when the American Psychiatric Association published a new edition of DSM there was no specification for organic personality syndrome, (R 33) although the syndrome had been recognized for many years prior to 1980 and Dr. Herrera was aware of it (R 37). Psychiatry and psychology are still considered soft sciences and much is written and published regardless of relative merit (R 40). Dr. Herrera does not believe that when he sees what appears to be a personality disorder he has an obligation to figure out whether it has an organic or non-organic basis as his role is **not** that of a **treating physician** and many times a defendant is sane and competent regardless of the presence of

psychiatric disorder(R 42).

Even after talking to Sireci the second time, Dr. Herrera could not find any reason to believe that Sireci was under severe emotional or mental disturbance at the time of the murder or did not have the ability to appreciate the wrongfulness of his acts (R 43-44). Sireci suffered only from sociopathy in which an individual does not have a very well developed sense of values and, even though they may know right from wrong, do not feel guilt and do not learn from past mistakes. Such a person would also have poor impulse control, and would be indifferent to the effects of his behavior on other people (R 45). Sireci started doing anti-social things at age twelve, such as stealing an answer book from a teacher and setting a fire. He subsequently was convicted of robbing a gas station and lived by the dictum "I do what I want when I want to." (R 48). He also shoplifted some sort of security chain in Tennessee. He had no guilt about any of these things. Sireci denied that he had killed Poteet and indicated that his girlfriend was trying to protect the person who committed the murder and would not testify in his favor (R 33-34). When Dr. Herrera told him that someone had been killed at a used car lot he said that "it was a messy job, silly, not the way to kill a man." From the way Sireci said this Dr. Herrera took it to mean that Sireci preferred such a method of killing (R 49). This would indicate a lack of feeling for your fellow man (R 50).

Dr. Herrera saw no evidence of organic damage when he talked to Sireci and if there was any Dr. Herrera felt that it was not of such severity as to prevent him from knowing what was happening. Even during the second interview Sireci wouldn't tell Dr. Herrera that he had killed someone (R 59). For all Dr. Herrera knew Sireci may have been innocent (R 70). His denial did not come across as a memory loss because his memory seemed to be very good for

everything else and Dr. Herrera felt that such denial was self-serving. Sireci suffers from no seizure disorder which would justify memory loss for the murder (R 60).

Sireci informed Dr. Herrera that he had a head injury and may have told him that his skull was broken. He also told him that he was semi-comatose for two or three weeks (although the hospital records do not support this) however, the majority of patients that have that type of injury recuperate very well (R 62). Dr. Herrera was not concerned with whether there was any change observed in Sireci after the accident. Usually when there is memory impairment there is no memory for the **accident itself**, either when it happened or how it happened, and if there is memory for the accident itself, that negates everything else (R 63). If an individual is able to recall the details of an accident and the periods preceding and following it, then he would not expect to find much in the way of organicity of enough severity to have any bearing on the purpose of his evaluation (R 19). Dr. Herrera did not get the impression that Sireci learned about the accident from what people had told him (R 64).

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