ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

HENRY PERRY SIRECI,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

CASE NO. 70,937

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 21 1988

DIERK, SURREME, GOURD

ON APPEAL AND CROSS APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA GRANTING POST-CONVICTION RELIEF

AS TO SENTENCE

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

JULIUS L. CHAMBERS RICHARD H. BURR, III DEBORAH FINS 99 Hudson Street, 16th fl. New York, New York 10013 (212) 219-1900

MARK E. OLIVE Office of the Capital Collateral Representative 1533 S. Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

Counsel for Appellee /Cross-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

To the extent that appellee/cross-appellant disputes the statement of the facts set forth by the appellant, those differences are clearly set forth in the discussion below.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Sireci's due process right to constitutionally adequate psychiatric evaluation in order to present a mental mitigation defense in the penalty phase of his capital trial, recognized in Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 84 L.Ed. 53, 105 S.Ct. 1087 (1985), was triggered by the pretrial appointment of psychiatrists who evaluated Mr. Sireci, then testified at the penalty phase of his trial. The trial court's finding that these psychiatrists failed to conduct constitutionally adequate evaluations -- due to their ignorance of or their ignoring the three "red flags" in Mr. Sireci's case which required further inquiry into the possibility of organic brain damage -- is supported by substantial evidence. The court's two additional findings of fact -- that Mr. Sireci suffered from organic brain damage at the time of the homicide which the psychiatrists could have discovered if they had performed competent evaluations, and that this evidence would have established the "mental" mitigating circumstances set forth at Fla. Stat. §§ 921.141(6)(b) and (f) -- were also supported by substantial evidence. Significantly, the trial court's findings on all three of these issues were supported as well by the testimony of the state's own expert. For these reasons, and because of the "great weight," <u>Huckaby v. State</u>, 343 So.2d 29, 33 (Fla. 1977), that would have been given to mental mitigation had the appointed psychiatrists performed constitutionally adequate evaluations (which could not have been a factor in Mr. Sireci's sentencing as it was conducted, due to the absence of evidence of mental mitigation), there is a reasonable probability that had the <u>Ake</u> violation not occurred, Mr. Sireci would not have been sentenced to death. Accordingly, the state cannot prevail in its purely factual challenge to the decision below.

With respect to Mr. Sireci's cross-appeal, the trial court erred in limiting the reach of the Ake violation to Mr. Sireci's sentence. The evidence demonstrated that competent psychiatric evaluation would have allowed the presentation of a credible guilt-phase defense to first degree premeditated murder. Mr. Sireci already had a credible defense to first degree felony murder, which would have been strengthened by competent psychiatric evaluation. Finally, the probability of the state offering Mr. Sireci a plea to second degree murder would have been greatly enhanced by competent psychiatric evaluation. In these circumstances, the trial court could not have fairly decided that the Ake violation would have had no material effect on the determination of Mr. Sireci's guilt.

ARGUMENT ON STATE'S APPEAL

I. THE STATE CANNOT PREVAIL IN ITS PURELY FACTUAL CHALLENGE TO THE DECISION BELOW, BECAUSE THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION.

As is clear from the state's brief -- a 33-page statement of facts and 12 pages of argument -- the state's basic challenge to the decision below is on factual grounds. The state simply disagrees with the trial court's determinations of credibility and other assessments of the facts before it. The state's challenge cannot prevail, because, as we discuss below, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the trial court's conclusions -- including, it should be noted, the testimony of the state's own expert at the post-conviction hearing.

The trial court found that the two court-appointed psychiatrists who examined Mr. Sireci before trial and testified at the penalty phase of his trial had, because of their constitutionally inadequate evaluations, failed to discover that Mr. Sireci suffered from serious organic brain damage at the time of the homicide for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. The court therefore ordered that Mr. Sireci be resentenced.

In reviewing a decision of a trial court after an evidentiary hearing on a post-conviction motion under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, the standard of review is clear. "[If] [t]he trial court's order is supported by competent substantial evidence, . . . this Court will not 'substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the

credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court.' <u>Goldfarb v. Robertson</u>, 82 So. 2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1955) (citation omitted)." <u>Demps v. State</u>, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984).

The decision below was rendered after several days of evidentiary hearings. The psychiatrists who conducted the pretrial evaluations appeared at the hearing to justify their actions, and the trial court was able to observe their demeanor as they asserted their positions and were questioned by counsel. Similarly, the court observed the expert witnesses presented by both the defendant and the state. After reviewing the testimony and the documentary evidence explained by the testimony, the trial court made its findings. Since all of its findings are amply supported by substantial competent evidence in the record — including testimony by the state's own expert — as discussed below, the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.

A. THE STATE'S ONLY LEGAL ARGUMENT -- THAT THE ORIGINAL DEFENSE REQUEST FOR EXPERT PSYCHIATRIC ASSISTANCE DID ТОИ SPECIFY ISSUES SENTENCING THEREFORE AND DID TRIGGER DUE PROCESS PROTECTIONS AT SENTENCING INAPPOSITE, **BECAUSE** APPOINTED PSYCHIATRISTS ACTUALLY TESTIFIED AT THE SENTENCING PHASE OF MR. SIRECI'S TRIAL AND PRESENTED THEIR OPINIONS AS EXPERTS ON THE MENTAL HEALTH MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

The state's first argument is that Mr. Sireci cannot assert any due process rights to competent evaluations by the state-appointed psychiatrists because the original request for psychiatric examinations by defense counsel did not specify that the examinations should encompass an evaluation of mitigating

factors. (State's Br. at 36-37). The problem with the state's argument, however, is that -- whatever the original request may have been -- due process is implicated here because both psychiatrists testified at the sentencing stage as experts on the mental health mitigating factors. Both were there by virtue of their appointment by the court to examine Mr. Sireci, and both testified on the basis of those court-ordered examinations. Most importantly, as the trial court found below, both presented testimony that misled the jury and the judge concerning Mr. Sireci's actual mental state. Due process is implicated when the state is responsible for the presentation of misinformation to the sentencer about the defendant. Townsend v. Burke, 334 U.S. 736, 92 L.Ed. 1690, 68 S.Ct. 1252 (1948). Accord, Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 887 & n.23, 77 L.Ed.2d 235, 103 S.Ct. 2733 (1983).

The state's discussion of Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 84 L.Ed.2d 53, 105 S.Ct. 1087 (1985), reflects a misunderstanding of that opinion. Ake recognized that it would be impractical for the state in every capital case to appoint expert psychiatric witnesses to assist the defense, whether requested by the defense or not. Ake set forth a reasonable requirement that in order for the state to be obligated to provide psychiatric assistance to the defense, the defense would have to make a showing that such assistance was warranted in the case. Ake also made clear that where such assistance was warranted, the defendant must be provided access to "a competent psychiatrist who will conduct an

appropriate examination." 470 U.S. at 83. The Court's holding reflects the obvious truth that it would be ludicrous to require the states to provide expert assistance where it is shown to be necessary to the defense, but then to allow the expert to perform so incompetently that he was of no real assistance. The purpose of the <u>Ake</u> requirement is to insure the reliability of fact-finding in criminal cases. To allow the presentation of misinformation or misdiagnosis would defeat the purpose of the requirement.

The holding in <u>Ake</u> that applies to Mr. Sireci's case is the holding that when the states provide psychiatric experts to indigents, those experts must perform competently. The part of <u>Ake</u> dealing with the showing that needs to be made in order to obtain the appointment of experts is irrelevant in a case where those experts <u>have</u> been appointed by the state and <u>have</u> presented themselves to the jury and judge as experts on the sentencing issues, but have performed their evaluations so incompetently that they mislead the jury and judge in testifying about the defendant's mental state. That is the case here. ¹

There is little difference between the presentation of a misdiagnosis by a court-appointed expert presented as a state witness or a defense witness. Under Ake, the defense witness must perform competently. Under ordinary due process notions set forth in Townsend, the state cannot present misinformation to the sentencer.

B. THERE IS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSION THAT THE STATE-APPOINTED PSYCHIATRISTS PERFORMED CONSTITUTIONALLY INADEQUATE EVALUATIONS.

Although there may be no document labeled "National Standard for Competent Psychiatric Evaluations," there is, within the psychiatric profession, an articulable, accepted and agreed upon standard of care. (R. 233, 244, 245, 249). That standard is contained in the major textbooks used by every medical school and residency training program in this country (R. 248, 249, 250), and is transmitted to psychiatrists during their training (R. 232, 235).²

Defendant's expert, Dr. Seymour Halleck, a professor in the Department of Psychiatry at the University of North Carolina (R. 218), has been a teacher in psychiatry since 1958 (except for a period of time when he served as Medical Director for the State Division of Corrections in Wisconsin), and a director of residency training programs (R. 219-22). He has been a member of the American Association of Directors of Psychiatric Residency Training since 1969, serving on that group's executive board for ten years, and as president of the group for a term. (R. 226). In his work for the Association as a member of the residency review

The state's expert, Dr. Pollack, did not like the term "standard of care," but preferred "good patient care" or "quality medical practice." (R. 559). He testified that the standard he was taught in training was "to be thorough." (R. 560). Of course, what it means to be thorough is to do all the things that training has taught you is required to be done in a particular case. He acknowledged that there is a good deal of information on what a good examination is, and that inculcation with that knowledge is what training in medical school and residency programs is all about. (R. 614).

accrediting committee, he has been involved in evaluating training programs and is knowledgeable about the contents of our nation's training programs. (R. 246). He is also one of only forty Senior Examiners for the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology and as such determines whether a psychiatrist is to become "board certified." (R. 226). In the course of his work, he has reviewed the evaluations performed by court-appointed psychiatrists, including those in Florida, where he was asked to do an evaluation of forensic psychiatric training. (R. 251-53). He is aware of any differences in the standard of care between 1976 and the present. (R. 253-54).

After hearing the testimony on voir dire and examining Dr. Halleck's curriculum vitae, the trial court accepted Dr. Halleck as an expert qualified to testify concerning standards of care for the psychiatric profession. (R. 254).

Dr. Halleck rendered his expert opinion that the pre-trial evaluations of Mr. Sireci performed by Drs. Herrera and Kirkland were inadequate (R. 269), negligent (R. 288, 295), and below the standard of practice (R. 270).⁴ He was joined by the other psychiatric experts below -- including the state's expert, Dr.

³ Dr. Halleck has spent a good deal of time in forensic medicine. He received formal training at the Menninger School of Psychiatry, was consultant to two institutions while teaching at the University of Wisconsin, and continued to serve as Chief Consultant to the Department of Corrections after leaving the Department as Medical Director. He has written extensively on and won awards for his work in, criminology and forensic psychiatry. (R. 219-24).

Dr. Lewis, a defense expert in psychiatry, similarly found the evaluations to be "very incomplete." (R. 417).

Pollack -- in designating actions or omissions that would fall below the standard of care if performed by a psychiatrist conducting an evaluation, and which were performed by Drs. Herrera and Kirkland in evaluating Mr. Sireci.⁵

Every expert on psychiatry who testified below -- including the state's expert, Dr. Pollack -- agreed that in order to perform a minimally competent psychiatric evaluation, the examining psychiatrist must do two things (among others): 1) he must obtain an objective medical history, which includes any history of head injuries (R. 263-65, Dr. Halleck; R. 320, 321-22, Dr. Lewis; R. 558, Dr. Pollack); and 2) he must eliminate the possibility of organic brain damage before presenting a diagnosis, particularly a diagnosis of sociopathy or anti-social personality disorder (R. 258-60, Dr. Halleck; R. 326, Dr. Lewis; R. 588, 597, Dr. Pollack). The first is a necessary prerequisite to the second.

A mental status examination is an examination by a psychiatrist during which the person to be evaluated is asked questions and observed by the psychiatrist. A properly performed mental status examination, while sufficient to suggest the presence of an organic disorder, is insufficient to rule out its

The state's expert testified on direct examination only regarding his assessment of Dr. Kirkland's examination. He was not asked nor did he offer any opinion as to the competency of Dr. Herrera's examination. The state thus offered no evidence in defense of Dr. Herrera's examination.

An applicant for Board Certification who does not address the issue of organic damage automatically fails his exam. (R. 262-63, Dr. Halleck).

existence, particularly when frontal lobe damage is involved. (R. 266, 271, Dr. Halleck; R. 324, 409, Dr. Lewis). Both Dr. Herrera and Dr. Kirkland acknowledged this. (R. 23, 167). Additional testing, some of which should be within the competence of a board certified psychiatrist, is required. (R. 271, Dr. Halleck; R. 316, Dr. Lewis; R. 585, 600, Dr. Pollack).

It is necessary to test for organic brain damage in a forensic examination as well as other examinations, because certain kinds of brain damage can affect a person's responsibility for criminal behavior. Forensic psychiatrists deem organically caused personality disorders to be more serious in applicable legal principles than mere functional terms disorders. (R. 261). Damage to a person's frontal lobes, in particular, can interfere with judgment and behavior, and specifically the capacity to control impulses or conform one's conduct to the requirements of law (R. 270, 275, Halleck; R. 322, 326, Dr. Lewis; R. 457, Dr. Pincus; R. 520, 525, 531, Dr. Vallely; R. 612, 613, Dr. Pollack), and can result in repetitious behavior which the brain-damaged person cannot stop. (R. 352, Dr. Lewis). An organically impaired person is likely to overreact if thwarted, and is unable to conceptualize the consequences of his acts. (R. 355, Dr. Lewis). Even Drs. Herrera and Kirkland admitted that brain damage can affect or contribute to a person's behavior in a way that would make him less culpable for criminal behavior. (R. 22, 150, 174). There has been a recognition that organic damage can contribute to violent behavior at least since the 1920s when experimental work was done with animals, and certainly since the 1960s when research was conducted with human beings (R. 434, 595).

Psychiatrists need to eliminate a diagnosis of brain damage before diagnosing a person as a sociopath or anti-social personality because a brain damaged person can exhibit behaviors or attitudes which are similar to those exhibited by a sociopath or anti-social personality. For example, a brain damaged person may react without much emotional response, and thus appear indifferent. (R. 58). He may not show appropriate concern for the consequences of his actions. (R. 58). In order to avoid misdiagnosis of sociopathy or anti-social personality, a psychiatrist must be sure that the attitudes and behaviors he observes are not the result of organic brain damage. (R. 260, Dr. Halleck; R. 360, 361, Dr. Lewis).

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